

Potato Apyrase: A New Tool for Parasitic Disease Research

Eveline Gomes Vasconcelos^{1*} • Priscila de Faria-Pinto^{1,4} • Fabrícia Aparecida Rezende-Soares¹ • Marcus Luiz de Oliveira Penido² • Sylvio Celso Gonçalves da Costa³ • Paulo Marcos Zech Coelho^{4,5}

¹ Laboratório de Estrutura e Função de Proteínas, Departamento de Bioquímica/ICB, Universidade Federal de Juiz de Fora, MG, Brazil ² Departamento de Bioquímica e Imunologia/ICB, Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais, Belo Horizonte, MG, Brazil ³ Laboratório de Imunomodulação, Instituto Oswaldo Cruz/FIOCRUZ- Rio de Janeiro, RJ, Brazil ⁴ Centro de Pesquisas René Rachou, Fundação Oswaldo Cruz, FIOCRUZ, Brazil ⁵ Sta Casa de Belo Horizonte, Belo Horizonte, MG, Brazil

Corresponding author: * eveline.vasconcelos@ufjf.edu.br or evascon@powerline.com.br

ABSTRACT

Recent investigations on *Solanum tuberosum* (potato) apyrase, a protein of biomedical interest, are presented along with a discussion on the possible biological application for the study of interactions between parasites and the host immune system. Potato apyrase (PA), one of the first proteins of the ATP diphosphohydrolase family to be purified, has immunostimulatory properties. Polyclonal antibodies against PA show strong cross-immunoreactivity with native ATP diphosphohydrolase isoforms isolated from either *Schistosoma mansoni* egg and worm or *Leishmania (Leishmania) amazonensis* promastigotes. These results were confirmed by immunoprecipitation assays in which antibodies against different PA isoforms, immobilized on Sepharose-Protein A, depleted the ATPase and ADPase activities from parasite preparations. The data suggested that potato and parasite proteins share specific epitopes. Furthermore, sera from both experimentally infected-mice and patients showed cross-immunoreactivity with PA, which also suggests that the antigenicity of these conserved epitopes exits. Distinct humoral immune response profiles of IgG antibodies from American cutaneous leishmaniasis, schistosomiasis and Chagas disease patients, associated with the distinct life-cycles of the parasites. Presumably, these antigens are processed and presented to effectors cells from the host immune system by different pathways. *In silico* studies demonstrated evolutionary and close structural relationships between PA and parasites ATP diphosphohydrolases. Specific protein domains were suggested to be potentially involved in the host immune response. Schistosomes may live for several years in the host, evading hemostatic and immune responses. Leishmanias can persist at the scar after clinical cure for long time. Further studies of both parasite and PA conserved domains could contribute to a better understanding of host-parasite interactions, and may to be explored as a new tool in parasitic disease research.

Keywords: apyrase, ATP diphosphohydrolase, Leishmania, parasite, plant, Schistosoma, Solanum tuberosum, Trypanosoma cruzi

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	80
A NEW PROTEIN FAMILY – THE ATP DIPHOSPHOHYDROLASE FAMILY - EMERGED FROM THE POTATO APYRASE	
STUDIES	81
STRUCTURAL RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN POTATO APYRASE AND OTHER MEMBERS OF THE ATP	
DIPHOSPHOHYDROLASE FAMILY	82
POTATO APYRASE HAS IMMUNOSTIMULATORY PROPERTIES THAT INDUCE HUMORAL IMMUNE RESPONSE IN	
ANIMAL MODELS	83
POLYCLONAL ANTI-POTATO APYRASE ANTIBODIES IDENTIFIED PARASITES ATP DIPHOSPHOHYDROLASES	83
Schistosoma mansoni ATP diphosphohydrolase isoforms have antigenic domains shared with potato apyrase	83
Leishmania ATP diphosphohydrolase isoforms possess antigenic domains shared with potato apyrase	84
RABBIT POLYCLONAL ANTI-POTATO APYRASE ANTIBODIES DO NOT REACT WITH NTPDases ON THE MOUSE CELL	
SURFACE	85
MAPPING OF THE CONSERVED DOMAINS SHARED BETWEEN POTATO APYRASE AND PARASITE ATP	
DIPHOSPHOHYDROLASES	85
REACTIVITY OF HUMAN SERUM WITH POTATO APYRASE	86
CONCLUDING REMARKS AND PERSPECTIVES	86
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	87
REFERENCES	87

INTRODUCTION

Biomedical interest in potato (*Solanum tuberosum*) apyrase (PA) activity goes back more than 30 years, to the time when this protein was found to possess remarkable adenosine triphosphatase (ATPase) and adenosine diphosphatase (ADPase) activities. The soluble apyrase isoform is obtained in high yield and purity using conventional methods

assuring significance and reproducibility in pharmacological and immunological assays (Vasconcelos *et al.* 1996; Faria-Pinto *et al.* 2004; Kettlun *et al.* 2005; Penido *et al.* 2007). The native PA is commercially available in various degrees of purity, and the production of a recombinant apyrase from potato tubers was recently reported (Nourizad *et al.* 2003).

The PA activity is useful in many different applications.

It has been employed for improving methods requiring monitoring of ATP or measurements of ATPase activity (Nyrén 1994; Karamohamed and Guidotti 2001) and is a valuable tool for *in vitro* assays on the depletion of ATP or pro-aggregating ADP (Whigham *et al.* 1976; Mrowiec *et al.* 1997; Langston *et al.* 2003; Cattaneo *et al.* 2007).

PA activity is also used in in vivo studies. Adenosine nucleotides have the potential for regulating platelet activation and vascular inflammatory processes through the activation of specific purinergic receptors (Marcus and Safier 1993), and ATP is an important signaling molecule in the peripheral and central nervous system (Morrone et al. 2006). After intravenous inoculation of a single dose of soluble PA in an animal model, followed by its continuous infusion directly into the graft, this protein prevented platelet microthrombic formation by inhibiting ADP-stimulated platelet aggregation and promoted significant prolongation of xenograft survival in both hyperacute and delayed xenograft rejection (Koyamada et al. 1996). Recently, PA activity was tested in the treatment of glioma, a type of primary brain tumor. Using a rat model, the investigators demonstrated that the presence of an ATP-depleting enzyme at the moment of glioma implantation caused a significant reduction in microvascular proliferation in the tumor and in its growth (Morrone et al. 2006).

In addition, it has been demonstrated that PA has immunostimulatory properties and polyclonal antibodies against this vegetable protein cross-react with parasites ATP diphosphohydrolase isoforms (Vasconcelos *et al.* 1996; Faria-Pinto *et al.* 2004, 2006; Coimbra *et al.* 2008; Faria-Pinto *et al.* 2008). In this review, recent investigations on PA and parasite ATP diphosphohydrolases are presented, along with a discussion of the possible biological applications of this relationship to the study of interactions between parasites and the host immune system.

A NEW PROTEIN FAMILY – THE ATP DIPHOSPHOHYDROLASE FAMILY - EMERGED FROM THE POTATO APYRASE STUDIES

Apyrase (ATP diphosphohydrolase, EC 3.6.1.5) has been characterized in plants, mammals, bacteria, fungi and parasites. These ubiquitous enzymes share several common features, such as ability to hydrolyze nucleoside di- and triphosphates to the corresponding nucleoside monophosphates upon bivalent metal ion activation. Several isoforms have been described, and they differ in their catalytic properties, solubilization, subcellular locations and/or functions (Vasconcelos *et al.* 1996; Gendron *et al.* 2002; Kettlun *et al.* 2005; Robson *et al.* 2006).

Although the nucleoside di- and triphosphate-hydrolyzing activity of apyrase in plants has been recognized for several decades, the first description of the ATP diphosphohydrolase family is recent (Handa and Guidotti 1996; Vasconcelos et al. 1996). The amino acid sequence deduced by cloning of the gene of a PA isoform from a commercial strain of S. tuberosum (Handa and Guidotti 1996) and the amino acid sequences of three peptides obtained from puri-fied apyrase from the 'Desirée' clonal variety of S. tuberosum (Vasconcelos et al. 1996) were used in a search of the protein data bank of the National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI). Considerable homology was found with a nucleoside triphosphatase from garden pea (Pisum sativum), two NTPase isoforms from protozoan parasite, Toxoplasma gondii, a guanosine diphosphatase from yeast, Saccharomyces cerevisiae, a hypothetical protein from Caenorhabditis elegans and a mammalian lymphoid cell activation antigen (Handa and Guidotti 1996; Vasconcelos et al. 1996). The alignment of the amino acid sequences showed two domains similar to the phosphate binding site motif of the actin-hsp70-hexokinase family, indicating a possible role in nucleotide binding, and three additional conserved domains. These five motifs were named "apyrase conserved regions" or ACR, and a new family of so-farunnoticed nucleoside triphosphatases and apyrases emerged from these studies (Handa and Guidotti 1996; Vasconcelos et al. 1996).

The apyrase isoforms isolated from S. tuberosum tubers, the first to be purified, are among the most extensively stu-died (Traverso-Cori *et al.* 1965; Valenzuela *et al.* 1973; Kettlun et al. 1981, 1982; Mancilla et al. 1984; Kettlun et al. 1992a, 1992b; Espinosa et al. 2000; Kettlun et al. 2000, 2005). Different isoforms have been characterized in the 'Pimpernel' and 'Desirée' varieties of *S. tuberosum*, which have the same molecular weight (49,000) but differ in their isoelectric points (pl) and ATPase/ADPase ratios (Kettlun et al. 1982; Mancilla et al. 1984). 'Pimpernel' apyrase has a pI of 8.74 and hydrolyzes ATP ten times faster than ADP, while the 'Desirée' enzyme has a pI of 6.69 and splits both nucleotides at the same rate (Kettlun et al. 1982; Mancilla et al. 1984). In the 'Ultimus' variety, at least two isoforms coexist, which have molecular weights 48,000 and 46,500 and ATPase/ADPase ratios of 1 and 10, respectively (Kettlun et al. 1992a, 1992b). Chemical modification and intrinsic fluorescence experiments identified the possible amino acids involved in the apyrase activity (Kettlun et al. 1981; Espinosa et al. 2000; Kettlun et al. 2000). Modeling of an isoform from S. tuberosum suggested that the single polypeptide chain is folded into two domains, and the putative catalytic site, composed by "apyrase conserved regions" is located between them (Kozakiewicz et al. 2008). Studies concerning the physiological role suggested that PA activity is related to the hydrolysis of nucleoside diphosphate produced during sucrose and starch biosynthesis (Anich et al. 1990). S. tuberosum was recently reported to contain at least three different apoplastically localized apyrase isoforms involved in the regulation of the synthesis of cell wall proteins and in energy transfer and starch synthesis (Riewe et al. 2008).

Significant progress has been made over the past 12 years in the structural studies of apyrases, but there is no uniformly accepted nomenclature for the various members of this new family. The members are being classified in their order of discovery and catalytic properties (Robson *et al.* 2006). The family members are named as either ATP diphosphohydrolase or NTPase (nucleoside triphosphate hydrolase) in parasites, NTPDase (nucleoside triphosphate diphosphohydrolase) in mammals, and apyrase in plants.

Apyrase-like genes have been identified in various plant species such as *P. sativum* (pea), *Glycine soja* (soybean), *Medicago truncatula*, *Dolichos biflorus* (cowpea), *Arabidopsis thaliana* (mouse-ear cress) and *Lotus japonicus* and their predicted amino acid sequences have been deposited in the protein data bank. In plant tissues, apyrase can be a cytosolic, membrane-associated or nuclear protein, and it has been implicated in playing functional roles in a variety of different systems (Kettlun *et al.* 2005). *P. sativum* apyrase mediates the uptake of phosphate from the extracellular matrix (Thomas *et al.* 1999). Apyrases from *D. biflorus*, *G. soja* and *M. truncatula* were associated with the nodulation signals produced by rhizobial infection (Etzler *et al.* 1999; Day *et al.* 2000; Cohn *et al.* 2001).

The first member of the mammalian NTPDase family to be cloned and sequenced was a lymphocyte cell activation antigen named CD39. The expression and characterization of catalytic properties of CD39 stimulated the molecular study of other NTPDases, and eight different genes encoding members of the mammalian NTPDase family were subsequently described (reviewed in Robson et al. 2006). The NTPDases 1, 2, 3 and 8 are typical cell surface-located enzymes with an extracellularly-facing catalytic site. NTPDases 5 and 6 exhibit intracellular localization and undergo secretion after heterologous expression. NTPDases 4 and 7 are entirely intracellularly located, facing the lumen of the cytoplasmic organelles (Robson et al. 2006). Mutagenesis data obtained from mammalian NTPDases showed that the apyrase-conserved regions are involved in substrate recognition, binding and hydrolysis (Robson et al. 2006). The functional role of NTPDases in mammalian animals has been intensively studied, and numerous works have demonstrated their participation in physiological processes involving the modulation of signals mediated by cell-surface purinergic receptors, such as the inhibition of ADP-induced platelet aggregation to prevent thrombosis (Gendron *et al.* 2002; Robson *et al.* 2006).

ATP diphosphohydrolases have been characterized in parasites such as T. gondii, Schistosoma mansoni, Leishmania (L.) amazonensis, Trichomonas vaginalis, Entamoeba hystolytica and Trypanosoma cruzi (Bermudes et al. 1994; Vasconcelos et al. 1996; Barros et al. 2000; Coimbra et al. 2002; Fietto et al. 2004; Tasca et al. 2004). Among the pathogenic parasites, only T. gondii, T. cruzi, and S. mansoni ATP diphosphohydrolase coding-genes have been reported (Bermudes et al. 1994; De Marco et al. 2003; Fietto et al. 2004; Levano-Garcia et al. 2007). Analyses of the databases of the NCBI using known sequences of ATP diphosphohydrolases revealed homologous putative proteins in the genomes of Schistosoma japonicum, a zoonotic helminth that causes schistosomiasis japonica; Plasmodium falciparum, an ethiologic agent of malaria; and in L. major, L. Infantum and L. braziliensis protozoan parasites, which cause leishmaniasis. It has been further suggested that their enzymatic activity could be associated with the purine recuperation and/or as a protective mechanism against the host organism that involves ATP or ADP, such as platelet activation cytotoxicity and cytolytic T-lymphocyte reactivity (Vasconcelos et al. 1993; Bermudes et al. 1994; Vasconcelos et al. 1996; Coimbra et al. 2002; Fietto et al. 2004; Tasca et al. 2004). Although a large number of ATP diphosphohydrolases from various sources have now been described, their precise functions in parasites are yet not fully understood.

STRUCTURAL RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN POTATO APYRASE AND OTHER MEMBERS OF THE ATP DIPHOSPHOHYDROLASE FAMILY

In silico analyses were recently performed (Faria-Pinto *et al.* 2006, 2008) in an attempt to determine the structural relationship between PA and other members of the ATP diphosphohydrolase family. The alignment of 32 members of the ATP diphosphohydrolase family, that included mammals, helminths and protozoan parasites, mosquitoes and plant proteins, was performed. Strong homology was observed among plant apyrases. The sequence identity among PA isoforms already deposited in the protein data bank is 92 to 98%, with 96 to 99% similarity. The identity between PA and other plant apyrases varied from 44 to 56%, with 70 to 75% similarity.

Among PA and mammalian proteins, the highest degree of identity (29-31%) was encountered with NTPDase 5 from mouse and human and NTPDase 6 from humans, while the human NTPDases1-4, 7 and 8, which are membrane-associated proteins, showed a lower degree of identity (22-29%).

Among parasites, the proteins having a higher homology with PA were the *Leishmania* NDPases (30-33% identity), followed by *S. mansoni* SmATPDase 2 and *S. japonicum* NTPDase6-like protein (26-28% identity), which



Fig. 1 Phylogenetic tree of several ATP diphosphohydrolases from different organisms. This tree was constructed using T-Coffee, excluding positions with gaps. GeneBank accession numbers of the sequences are: *Solanum tuberosum* apyrase, P80595; *Dolichos biflorus* apyrase, AF156781; *Glycine soja* apyrase, AAG32959; *Medicago truncatula* apyrase, AAO23007; *Pisum sativum* apyrase, BAB85978; *Schistosoma mansoni* SmATPDase2, DQ868522; *Schistosoma japonicum* NTPDase6-like protein, AAW26231; NTPDase6-*Homo sapiens*, AAP92131; NTPDase5-*Homo sapiens*, NP_001240; NTPDase5-*Mus musculus*; NP_001021385; *Aedes aegipty* NDPase, EAT42846; *Anopheles gambiae* CD39-like protein, XP_320057; *Trypanosoma cruzi* NTPDase1, AAS75599; *Leishmania braziliensis* NDPase, CAM42020; *Leishmania major* NDPase, CAJ03227; *Leishmania infantum* NDPase, CAM66723; *Plasmo-dium falciparum* NTPDase1, XP_00138471; *Schistosoma mansoni* SmATPDase1, AAP94734; NTPDase1-*Homo sapiens*, NP_001767; NTPDase1-*Mus musculus*, NP_082369; NTPDase2-*Homo sapiens*, NP_001239; NTPDase3-*Mus musculus*, NP_848791; NTPDase4-*Homo sapiens*, NP_004892; NTPDase4-*Mus musculus*, NP_080450; NTPDase7-*Homo sapiens*, NP_065087; NTPDase7-*Mus musculus*, NP_444333; *Toxoplasma gondii* NTPase1, Q27893; NTPDase6-*Mus musculus*; NP_080450; NTPDase7-*Homo sapiens*, NP_065087; NTPDase7-*Mus musculus*, NP_444333; *Toxoplasma gondii* NTPase1, Q27893; NTPDase6-*Mus musculus*; NP_742115. Reprinted from Faria-Pinto P, Rezende-Soares FA, Molica AM, Montesano MA, Marques MJ, Rocha MOC, Gomes JAS, Enk MJ, Correa-Oliveira R, Coelho PMZ, Neto SM, Franco OL, Vasconcelos EG (2008) Mapping of the conserved antigenic domains shared between potato apyrase and parasites ATP diphosphohydrolases: potential application in human parasitic diseases. *Parasitology* 135, 943-953, with kind permission from Cambridge University Press, ©2008.

showed particular domains of high identity among them.

The phylogenetic tree showed two main branches. The first clade is clearly composed of membrane-associated human NTPDases 1-4, 7-8, mouse NTPDases 1-4 and 6-8, *S. mansoni* SmATPDase 1, *P. falciparum* NTPDase 1 and *T. gondii* NTPase 1. The second is composed of human and mouse NTPDases 5 and human NTPDase 6, plant apyrases, *S. mansoni* SmATPDase 2, *S. japonicum* NTPDase6-like protein and *Leishmania* NDPases (**Fig. 1**; Faria-Pinto *et al.* 2008). Phylogenetic analysis, therefore, indicated two different evolutionary pathways, possibly a result of ancient divergence. Of these analyses, a closer structural relationship was observed between PA and ATP diphosphohydrolases from schistosomes and leishmanias (Faria-Pinto *et al.* 2008).

Hosts and parasites have co-evolved over millions of years, and these parasites live for years in mammals using a wide range of mechanisms to evade and manipulate the host's immune response (Requena et al. 2000; Dunne and Cooke 2005). We speculate that the existence of ATPase and ADPase activities on the surface of parasites, with kinetic characteristics similar to those of the mammalian NTPDases, raises the possibility that a common mechanism might exist that permits the parasites to mimic some of the conditions on the surface of host cells, thereby escaping the hemostatic or immune responses that are mediated by ADP or ATP. These include platelet activation cytotoxicity and cytolytic T-lymphocyte reactivity. In addition, it is possible that specific antigenic regions were conserved among the different parasites species and are related to the success of parasitism through disease immunomodulation.

POTATO APYRASE HAS IMMUNOSTIMULATORY PROPERTIES THAT INDUCE HUMORAL IMMUNE RESPONSE IN ANIMAL MODELS

Studies showed that PA purified from either 'Desirée' or 'Ultimus' variety of S. tuberosum or from a commercial strain of S. tuberosum presents remarkable immunostimulatory properties, activating humoral immune responses in Swiss mice and rabbits (Vasconcelos et al. 1996; Faria-Pinto et al. 2004). Recently, healthy BALB/c mice inoculated per via peritoneal with PA, a soluble isoform purified from a commercial strain of S. tuberosum, exhibited significant increase of their IgG1 and IgG2a antibody serum levels against this protein. Given that IgG isotypes represent markers for the Th1/Th2 dichotomous immune response (Hoffmann et al. 1999), these results suggested that this vegetable protein has distinct epitopes capable of inducing Th1- and Th2-type cytokine secretion profiles (unpublished data), information that could be applied in disease immunomodulation studies.

POLYCLONAL ANTI-POTATO APYRASE ANTIBODIES IDENTIFIED PARASITES ATP DIPHOSPHOHYDROLASES

The characterization of parasite proteins is essential to the understanding of the host-parasite relationship and/or for improving methods for the control of parasitic diseases such as diagnostic methods and implementation of vaccines. Investigations in our laboratory showed cross-immunoreactivity between rabbit polyclonal anti-PA antibodies and native ATP diphosphohydrolases from either *S. mansoni* worm and egg (Vasconcelos *et al.* 1996; Faria-Pinto *et al.* 2004) or *Leishmania* promastigote form (Coimbra *et al.* 2008), but not from mammalian NTPDases (Faria-Pinto *et al.* 2006).

Schistosoma mansoni ATP diphosphohydrolase isoforms have antigenic domains shared with potato apyrase

Schistosoma mansoni is one of the major etiological agents of schistosomiasis, a debilitating human infection. Infection



Fig. 2 (A) general features of S. mansoni egg seen by scanning electron microscope; (B) enlargement of a region of the egg-shell (A) showing surface microspines located outside the egg-shell; (C) Immunocytochemical localization of ATP diphosphohydrolase from the S. mansoni egg by immunofluorescence confocal microscopy. Anti-PA antibodies and secondary antibody coupled to TRITC (Tetramethyl Rhodamine Iso-thiocyanate) were used for fluorescence detection of ATP diphosphohydrolase on cryostat sections (10 µm thick) of infected mouse liver. General features of S. mansoni egg showing fluorescence homogeneously distributed on the external surface of miracidium (arrow 1), in the region between the miracidium and the inner side of the egg-shell (arrow 2) and immediately outside and spreading away from the egg-shell (arrow 3); (D) enlargement of a region of the egg-shell surface showing granular material entrapped by the surface microspines (arrow). * Periovular area of granulomatous inflammation. (C) and (D) were reprinted from Faria-Pinto P, Meirelles MN, Lenzi HL, Mota EM, Penido MLO, Coelho PMZ, Vasconcelos EG (2004) ATP diphosphohydrolase from Schistosoma mansoni egg: characterization of a new antigen. Parasitology 129, 51-57, with kind permission from Cambridge University Press, ©2004.

by *S. mansoni* occurs following penetration of the skin by cercariae. After penetration, cercariae transform into schistosomules, sexually immature worms, that migrate to the lungs. Development of the adult parasite and sexual maturation are complete within 6-8 weeks after infection. Adult worms then migrate to the portal and mesenteric vasculature, where they initiate intense ovoposition. Immunopathology in schistosomiasis mansoni is a result of granulomatous inflammation around parasite eggs (**Fig. 2**) in the host liver and intestines, mediated by major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class II-restricted CD4⁺ T lymphocytes specific for schistosome egg antigens (Kusel *et al.* 2007).

There is broad expression of ATP diphosphohydrolase during all stages of the *S. mansoni* life cycle (Vasconcelos *et al.* 1993, 1996; Torres *et al.* 1998; De Marco *et al.* 2003; Faria-Pinto *et al.* 2004; Levano-Garcia *et al.* 2007). The first demonstration of an ATP diphosphohydrolase activity on the external surface of *Schistosoma mansoni* was reported by Vasconcelos *et al.* (1993). Furthermore, two *S. mansoni* ATP diphosphohydrolase isoforms of approximately 63 kDa, differing in their catalytic properties and their solubilities and sensitivities to non-ionic detergents, were partially purified and characterized in both adult worm tegument and homogenized egg preparations (Vasconcelos *et al.* 1996; Faria-Pinto *et al.* 2004).

The two isoforms were identified by cross-immunoreac-

tivity with different polyclonal antibodies against native or denatured PA of different origins, suggesting that the parasite and vegetable proteins share conserved epitopes (Vasconcelos et al. 1996; Faria-Pinto et al. 2004). These data were confirmed by immunoprecipitation assays, since antibodies against PA isoforms, immobilized on Sepharose-Protein A, depleted the ATPase and ADPase activities from detergent-solubilized worm tegument (Vasconcelos et al. 1996). By confocal fluorescence microscopy using anti-PA antibodies, strong labeling was seen on the external surface of S. mansoni adult worms (Vasconcelos et al. 1996). Very strong fluorescence was seen on the external surface of miracidium in the S. mansoni egg, possibly involving the labeling of a membrane-associated isoform (Fig. 2, panel C; Faria-Pinto et al. 2004). Intense fluorescence was also seen in von Lichtenberg's envelope and on the outer side of the egg-shell, entrapped by surface microspines, suggesting that a soluble isoform is secreted (Fig. 2, panels C and D; Faria-Pinto et al. 2004). Furthermore, the cloning of two S. mansoni ATP diphosphohydrolase genes from the adult worm was reported (De Marco et al. 2003; Levano-Garcia et al. 2007). In silico protein analyses showed that S. mansoni SmATPDase 1, with a predicted MW 61,353, has two transmembrane domains with a great similarity to mammalian NTPDase 1, a mammalian membrane-associated enzyme (De Marco et al. 2003), while SmATPDase 2, of predicted MW 63,785, shows similarity to intracellular and soluble mammalian NTPDases 5 and 6, with one amino-terminal transmembrane region possibly subject to proteolytic posttranslational processing that results in a secreted protein of 55 kDa (Levano-Garcia et al. 2007).

Due to this cross-immunoreactivity observed between PA and S. mansoni ATP diphosphohydrolase isoforms, the vegetable protein was used as an antigen. High levels of IgG-recognizing PA were observed in sera from Swiss Webster mice experimentally infected with S. mansoni (Faria-Pinto et al. 2004). In addition, spleen cells from chronically S. mansoni infected BALB/c mice showed significantly higher in vitro Interferon- γ (IFN- γ), Interleucin-4 (IL-4) and Interleucin-10 (IL-10) cytokine levels in response to PA (unpublished data). As recently reviewed, T helper type 1 (Th1) cells produce IFN- γ during the early phase of the parasitic diseases, while T helper type 2 (Th2) cells, which produce IL-4, are important for the regulation of the immune response to helminths. Interleukin-10, an immunoregulatory cytokine, has been associated with the function of regulatory T cells during a parasitic infection (Kusel et al. 2007). Therefore, it is possible that different domains shared between PA and S. mansoni ATP diphosphohydrolases isoforms are capable of stimulating cytokine production by distinct populations of T cells. This possibility motivates the exploration of this hypothesis in human cell culture

The presence of an active ATP diphosphohydrolase on the surface of parasites might be a potential target for therapeutic drug action. In addition, the study of the effects of drugs on their ATPase and ADPase activities may be of help in assessing its functional significance (Gendron et al. 2002; Penido et al. 2007). Thus, the effects of the alkylaminoalkanethiosulfuric acids, new schistosomicidal drugs, were tested on S. mansoni ATP diphosphohydrolase isoforms (Penido et al. 2007). The results showed that these compounds are reversible inhibitors of the S. mansoni ATP diphosphohydrolase activity from the adult worm tegument, and their primary mechanism of action depends on the thiosulfate group (Penido et al. 2007). Since soluble S. mansoni ATP diphosphohydrolase isoform and PA share structural similarities, the pattern of PA inhibition was also analyzed. ADPase activity from soluble PA showed a higher sensitivity to alkylaminoalkanethiosulfuric acids than that shown by ADPase activity from the adult worm tegument, while the ATPase activities from both samples showed similar inhibition levels (Penido et al. 2007). Therefore, from these studies, one can conclude that both soluble and membraneassociated isoforms of S. mansoni ATP diphosphohydrolase

are possible targets for the alkylaminoalkanethiosulfuric acids, and the variations observed for ATPase and ADPase activities suggested that the two isoforms are differently regulated (Penido *et al.* 2007).

Leishmania ATP diphosphohydrolase isoforms possess antigenic domains shared with potato apyrase

Leishmaniasis is a complex of diseases caused by different species of intracellular protozoan parasites belonging to the genus Leishmania. For most Leishmania species, humans are accidental hosts and leishmaniasis is primarily a zoonotic disease (Kedzierski et al. 2006). Leishmaniasis is transmitted through the bite of phlebotomine sandflies. In vertebrate hosts, Leishmania survive and multiply as nonmotile amastigotes, primarily in macrophages. Amastigotes are ingested when a female sandfly sucks blood from an infected host. Amastigotes develop in the sandfly culminating in the generation of infective metacyclic flagellated promastigotes in the anterior parts of the digestive tract. The promastigotes are introduced into the skin of the host with the sandfly saliva at the next meal (Kedzierski et al. 2006). Clinical manifestations of leishmaniasis, i.e., cutaneous, mucocutaneous or visceral, depend on a close interaction between the genetic backgrounds of the parasite and the host (Kedzierski et al. 2006). L. (L.) amazonensis infection in humans presents a severe polar form, which is recognized as diffuse cutaneous leishmaniasis, sharing many features with lepromatous leprosy. L. (L.) amazonensis has been isolated from various clinical forms of leishmaniasis, and causes cutaneous, diffuse, mucocutaneous and visceral clinical forms (Almeida et al. 1996; Gonçalves da Costa 2005). L. (V.) braziliensis has been isolated from mucocutaneous leishmaniasis, while L. (L.) infantum is one of the species responsible for visceral leishmaniasis in the New World (Gonçalves da Costa 2005). The role of the host's genetic background, virulence factors of Leishmania strains and the immunological response, especially the Th1/Th2 pattern of immunity, in the outcome of the Leishmania infection has been extensively studied and implicated in some instances in susceptibility or resistance to infection (Calabrese and Gonçalves da Costa 1992; Abreu-Silva et al. 2003, 2004; Gonçalves da Costa 2005; Kedzierski et al. 2006).

The first demonstration of ATP diphosphohydrolase activity in the *Leishmania* genus was reported by Coimbra *et al.* (2002), who identified this protein on the external surface of *L.* (*L.*) *amazonensis* promastigote forms by ultrastructural cytochemical techniques (Coimbra *et al.* 2002). Ecto-localization of *L.* (*L.*) *amazonensis* ATP diphosphohydrolase confirmed that this parasite possesses mechanisms capable of hydrolyzing nucleoside di- and triphosphates and that the expression of ATP diphosphohydrolase is associated with the outer surface of the parasite's plasma membrane (Coimbra *et al.* 2002).

Furthermore, a L. (L.) amazonensis ATP diphosphohydrolase isoform from the plasma membrane of promastigote form was partially purified. The cross-immunoreactivity between polyclonal anti-PA antibodies and diffuse bands of about 58-63 kDa, possibly corresponding to glycosylated forms, permitted the identification of this parasite's protein as a true ATP diphosphohydrolase (Coimbra et al. 2008). High total IgG antibody level-recognizing PA was found in serum from promastigote-infected mice, thereby confirming both the existence of epitopes shared between the parasite and vegetable proteins, and the parasite ATP diphosphohydrolase antigenicity. According to Western blots, serum from amastigote-infected BALB/c mice recognized both PA and this antigenic ATP diphosphohydrolase isoform isolated from promastigotes, suggesting that it is also expressed in the amastigote stage (Coimbra et al. 2008).

Using PA as a coating antigen in the ELISA technique, the serum reactivity of amastigote-infected mice was monitored over a 90-day period. Reactivity of the IgG2a antibody was detected in the early stages of infection. During the progression of leishmaniasis, the disappearance of the IgG2a response and an increase in the IgG1 antibody serum levels against the shared epitopes occurred (Coimbra *et al.* 2008). The humoral response of experimentally infected BALB/c mice against the epitopes shared between parasite ATP diphosphohydrolase and PA revealed that the antigenicity of this parasite's protein and, in addition, the ability of cross-immunoreactivity with PA to serologically differentiate stages of leishmaniasis in infected mice. The data again suggested that the shared epitopes of ATP diphosphohydrolase and PA are able to stimulate the host's cellular immune response.

An ATP diphosphohydrolase isoform was recently identified in *L.* (*V.*) *braziliensis* promastigote forms, and similar results were obtained in another *Leishmania* strain, belonging to the *Leishmania braziliensis* complex. By immunodepletion assays of ATPase and ADPase activities and Western blots, mouse and rabbit polyclonal anti-PA antibodies identified a 48 kDa-band in the two promastigote strains. These results confirmed that parasite and vegetable proteins share conserved epitopes, and that homologous proteins are present in several strains of *Leishmania* (unpublished data).

RABBIT POLYCLONAL ANTI-POTATO APYRASE ANTIBODIES DO NOT REACT WITH NTPDases ON THE MOUSE CELL SURFACE

NTPDases have been described in hepatocytes, epithelial cells of the bile duct system, vascular cells, and in immune cells, such as platelets, lymphocytes, monocytes and macrophages (Gendron et al. 2002; Robson et al. 2006). We showed that purified PA, when inoculated in the rabbit, generates polyclonal sera containing anti-apyrase antibodies that are capable of recognizing ATP diphosphohydrolase isoforms from S. mansoni egg (Faria-Pinto et al. 2004). Since the surrounding granulomatous tissues are rich in inflammatory cells, such as macrophages, eosinophils, neutrophils, lymphocytes, mast cells and fibroblastic-like cells (Lenzi et al. 1998), experimental protocols were developed to verify whether antibodies produced in the rabbit against PA would cross-react with mouse NTPDases. Using confocal immunofluorescence microscopy and rabbit polyclonal anti-PA antibodies, cryostat mouse liver sections presenting exudative-productive granulomas were analyzed. The results showed that the anti-PA antibody reacted only with miracidial and egg structures, and not with granulomatous cells (Fig. 2, panel C). Negative reactivity was also observed to hepatic parenchyma, blood vessels, and bile ducts (Faria-Pinto et al. 2006). Cross-immunoreactivity between anti-PA antibody and intracellular NTPDases, possibly not accessible under experimental conditions, were not discarded in these experiments (Faria-Pinto et al. 2006). However, the high identity between PA and S. mansoni ATP diphosphohydrolase and the lower identity with mammalian NTPDases observed by in silico analysis, suggested the presence of unique motifs shared between parasite and vegetable proteins, and that autoantibodies are not induced by immunization with PA (Faria-Pinto et al. 2006).

MAPPING OF THE CONSERVED DOMAINS SHARED BETWEEN POTATO APYRASE AND PARASITE ATP DIPHOSPHOHYDROLASES

By evaluation of the cross-immunoreactivity with PA and *in silico* analyses, the possible occurrence of conserved domains as functional regions in parasite ATP diphosphohydrolases and the associated antigenicity of these proteins in human parasitic diseases was demonstrated (Faria-Pinto *et al.* 2008). The highest identities between PA and leishmanias NDPases or SmATPDase 2 were observed in the regions that include the characteristic conserved domains of the ATP diphosphohydrolase family (ACR), and in three others sites (**Fig. 3**, arrows B, F and G). Predictions of putative epitopes and MHC Class-II binding peptides showed that these conserved shared domains have high scores for



Fig. 3 Molecular models for isolated PA (A) and *L. braziliensis* NDPase (B), and after superposition of the two proteins (C) showing the high structural homology between them. The apyrase conserved regions (ACR) are represented in white (A) or red (B) and the exposed regions that bind antibodies are indicated by white arrows (A, B). Conserved region B is indicated by another tone of blue (A, C) or brown (B, C). Reprinted from Faria-Pinto P, Rezende-Soares FA, Molica AM, Montesano MA, Marques MJ, Rocha MOC, Gomes JAS, Enk MJ, Correa-Oliveira R, Coelho PMZ, Neto SM, Franco OL, Vasconcelos EG (2008) Mapping of the conserved antigenic domains shared between potato apyrase and parasites ATP diphosphohydrolases: potential application in human parasitic diseases. *Parasitology* 135, 943-953, with kind permission from Cambridge University Press, ©2008.

reactivity by antibodies and/or high probability of binding human leukocyte antigen (HLA)-DR molecules and are theoretically capable of inducing a T cell immune response (Faria-Pinto *et al.* 2008). Antigenic loops in putative threedimensional models of the *L.* (*V.*) *braziliensis* NDPase (**Fig. 3**) and *S. mansoni* SmATPDase 2 were shown to be conserved functional regions, indicating a clear association between structure and antigenicity (Faria-Pinto *et al.* 2008).



Fig. 4 Primary structure alignment of the domain B from plants and parasites apyrases. The identical amino acid residues of PA are shown as grey columns. Grey cylinders correspond to α -helices in the tri-dimensional structure of PA (Fig. 3). GeneBank accession numbers of the amino acid sequences are indicated in Fig. 1. Proteins from leishmanias (50-55%) and schistosomes (43-45%) showed a higher degree of identity to PA. No significant identity in linear sequence was observed between PA and either *T. cruzi*, *T. gondii* or *P. falciparum* proteins. The regions B from other plants share 58-60% identity with PA.

The domain B, which did not include "apyrase conserved region" from ATP diphosphohydrolase family, is shared between PA, *D. biflorus*, *P. sativum*, *G. soja*, *M. truncatula*, leishmanias NDPases, SmATPDase 2 and *S. japonicum* NTPDase6 like-protein, and it did not share significant identity with *P. falciparum* NTPDase1, *T. gondii* NTPase 1 and *T. cruzi* NTPDase 1 counterparts (**Fig. 4**). This particular domain is likely responsible for the cross-immunoreactivity between PA and *S. mansoni* or Leishmania proteins.

REACTIVITY OF HUMAN SERUM WITH POTATO APYRASE

Theoretical analyses showed a high degree of identity between PA and the soluble isoform of the S. mansoni ATP diphosphohydrolase or leishmanias NDPase-like proteins, and, to a lower degree, with T. cruzi NTPDase (Faria-Pinto et al. 2008). These studies stimulated the evaluation of the reactivity between PA and sera from American cutaneous leishmaniasis (ACL), schistosomiasis or Chagas diseased patients (Faria-Pinto et al. 2008). Significantly higher IgG antibody reactivity was found in sera from ACL patients, followed by antibodies from individuals with schistosomiasis. Sera from patients with Chagas disease had low IgG antibody reactivity against PA, significantly lower than that found in schistosomiasis patients (Faria-Pinto et al. 2008). Therefore, one can conclude that ATP diphosphohydrolase epitopes of the parasite, shared with PA, are promptly recognized by IgGs from schistosomiasis and leishmaniasis patients.

T. cruzi NTPDase was localized on the external surface of all life-cycle forms of T. cruzi (Fietto et al. 2004). T. cruzi is the etiological agent of Chagas disease that causes chronic infection in humans and a large number of other mammalian species. Transmission to host vertebrates is achieved by insects through feces contaminated with the metacyclic trypomastigote, an infective stage of the parasite that occurs in the lumen of the rectum of the insect. In the vertebrate host, T. cruzi is an obligate intracellular parasite that completes its life cycle in different nucleated cell types, reaches the cytoplasm where it replicates into amastigote forms (Fietto et al. 2004; Gomes et al. 2005). According to in silico analysis, T. cruzi NTPDase 1 shares a low identity with PA (Faria-Pinto et al. 2008), but showed domains that include "apyrase conserved regions" with a high predictive probability to bind antibody and human leukocyte antigen (HLA)-DR molecules. T. cruzi has antigens associated with autoimmune responses (Requena et al. 2000; Gomes et al. 2005), and it was concluded that the low reactivity with PA should not be neglected, since these conserved domains are interesting targets for further investigation into the role in the immune response against this parasitic infection (Faria-Pinto et al. 2008).

CONCLUDING REMARKS AND PERSPECTIVES

Parasites may live for several years in the host, and thus must possess mechanisms to evade hemostatic and immune responses, which are still poorly understood. We believe that immunological studies on parasites' ATP diphosphohydrolases could contribute to the elucidation of these mechanisms and a better understanding of host-parasite interactions. A highly distinct human humoral immune response profile of IgG antibody against PA was observed in patients with American cutaneous leishmaniasis, schistosomiasis or Chagas disease. This distinct immunoglobulin profile, associated with the different parasites' life-cycles, suggested that the parasite ATP diphosphohydrolases are processed and presented to effector cells from the host immune system by different pathways, warrants further study. Comparative studies of the immune response elicited by native or recombinant forms of parasite ATP diphosphohydrolases in different parasitic diseases will be of interest for evaluation of their immunogenicity, and for determining whether the shared epitopes between parasites and vegetable proteins are immunodominant. The conserved domains could be tested in proliferation and *in vitro* human leukocyte antigen (HLA)-DR binding assays in larger populations with a high genetic variability to determine the ability of those epitopes to elicit an immune response and to be presented by a wide range of human leukocyte antigen (HLA) molecules.

New approaches are required to supplement current disease control methods such as diagnosis and treatment, which are difficult and costly. Crude antigens used in epidemiological studies are valuable for the detection of general patterns in infected populations but, for comparative studies, the use of serological surveys on single antigens permits better definition, not only of the humoral response, but also of an analysis of the role of the antigen in inducing an effective cellular response (Mutapi 2001). It is possible that immunoglobulin subtype analysis, using vegetal protein or their derivative epitopes as antigens, can differentiate the parasitic diseases and these new tools could be considered for formulation of specific and sensitive methods for the diagnosis and prognosis of human parasitic diseases.

We can state that the PA has the potential to stimulate the production of antibodies and significant *in vitro* quantities of cytokines by immune cells of *S. mansoni*-infected mice. Novel immunostimulatory molecules from plants that enhance or direct an appropriate immune response against target immunogens are being investigated for treatment and prevention of several diseases (Spelman *et al.* 2006; Lee *et al.* 2007). The observations that both Th1 and Th2 responses are involved in either amelioration of the fibrous pathology of the granulomatous response in schistosomiasis, or in immunomodulation, resistance, and protective immune response against parasites (Hoffmann *et al.* 1999; Zouain *et al.* 2001; Kedzierski *et al.* 2006; Leenstra *et al.* 2006), and that molecules produced by *S. mansoni* or *S. japonicum* contribute to the prevention of a range of immune disorders (Araújo *et al.* 2004; Yang *et al.* 2007) have been described. Therefore, further studies on the conserved domains of both parasite and PA, obtained by peptide synthesis or by cloning and heterologous expression, could be explored as molecular markers for the study of the parasitic diseases or for implementation of either vaccine or immunotherapy.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

These studies were supported in part by grants from the Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado de Minas Gerais (FAPEMIG) and the Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico (CNPq). P. Faria-Pinto and F. A. Soares-Rezende were recipients of Doctorate and Masters Degree Fellowships from the CPqRR/FIOCRUZ/Belo Horizonte/MG and UFJF, respectively. S. C. Gonçalves da Costa and P. M. Z. Coelho are recipients of senior fellowships from CNPq. We are grateful to Dr. D. Lee Nelson (Faculdade de Farmácia/UFMG) for revising the manuscript; Ms L. F. Pereira for technical assistance.

REFERENCES

- Abreu-Silva AL, Calabrese KS, Cupolilo SMN, Cardoso FO, Souza CSF, Gonçalves da Costa SC (2004) Histopathological studies of visceralized Leishmania (Leishmania) amazonensis in mice experimentally infected. Veterinary Parasitology 121, 179-187
- Abreu-Silva AL, Calabrese KS, Tedesco RC, Mortara RA, Gonçalves da Costa SC (2003) Central nervous system involvement in experimental infection with Leishmania (Leishmania) amazonensis. American Journal Tropical Medicine and Hygiene 68, 661-665
- Almeida RP, Barral-Neto M, Jesus AMR, Freitas LAR, Carvalho EM, Barral A (1996) Biological behavior of *Leishmania amazonensis* isolated from human with cutaneous, mucosal, or visceral leishmaniasis in BALB/c mice. *American Journal Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* 54, 178-184
- Anich M, Fanta N, Mancilla M, Kettlun AM, Valenzuela MA, Traverso-Cori A (1990) Apyrase activity and changes in metabolites during germination and tuberization of *Solanum tuberosum*. *Phytochemistry* 29, 1411-1415
- Araújo MI, Hoppe BS, Medeiros M Jr., Carvalho EM (2004) Schistosoma mansoni infection modulates the immune response against allergic and autoimmune diseases. Memórias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz 99, 27-32
- Barros FS, de Menezes LF, Pinheiro AAS, Silva EF, Lopes AHCS, de Souza W, Meyer-Fernandes JR (2000) Ectonucleotide diphosphohydrolase activities in *Entamoeba histolytica*. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics 375, 304-314
- Bermudes D, Peck KR, Afifi MA, Beckers CJM, Joiner KA (1994) Tandemly repeated genes enconde nucleoside triphosphate hydrolase isoforms secreted into the parasitophorous vacuole of *Toxoplasma gondii*. *The Journal* of *Biological Chemistry* **269**, 29252-29260
- Calabrese KS, Gonçalves da Costa SC (1992). Enhancement of *Leishmania* amazonensis infection in BCG non-responder mice by BCG-antigen specific vaccine. *Memórias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz* 87, 49-56
- Cattaneo M, Lecchi A, Zighetti ML, Lussana F (2007) Platelet aggregation studies: autologous platelet-poor plasma inhibits platelet aggregation when added to platelet-rich plasma to normalize platelet count. *Haematologica* 92, 694-697
- Cohn JR, Uhm T, Ramu S, Nam YW, Kim DJ, Penmetsa RV, Wood TC, Denny RL, Young ND, Cook DR, Stacey G (2001) Differential regulation of a family of apyrase genes from *Medicago truncatula*. *Plant Physiology* 125, 2104-2119
- Coimbra ES, Gonçalves-Da-Costa SC, Corte-Real S, Freitas FG, Durão AC, Souza CS, Silva-Santos MI, Vasconcelos EG (2002) Characterization and cytochemical localization of an ATP diphosphohydrolase from *Leishmania amazonensis* promastigote. *Parasitology* **124**, 137-143
- Coimbra ES, Gonçalves-Da-Costa SC, Costa BLS, Giarola NLL, Rezende-Soares FA, Fessel MR, Ferreira AP, Souza CSF, Abreu-Silva AL, Vasconcelos E.G. (2008) A *Leishmania* (*L.*) *amazonensis* ATP diphosphohydrolase isoform and potato apyrase share epitopes: antigenicity and correlation with disease progression. *Parasitology* **135**, 327-335
- Day RB, McAlvin CB, Loh JT, Denny RL, Wood TC, Young ND, Stacey G (2000) Differential expression of two soybean apyrases, one of which is an early nodulin. *Molecular Plant-microbe Interactions* **13**, 1053-1070
- DeMarco R, Kowaltowski AT, Mortara RA, Verjovski-Almeida S (2003) Molecular characterization and immunolocalization of *Schistosoma mansoni* ATP diphosphohydrolase. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* **307**, 831-838

Dunne DW, Cooke A (2005) A worm's eye view of the immune system: consequences for evolution of human autoimmune disease. *Nature Reviews. Immunology* **5**, 420-426

Espinosa V, Kettlun AM, Zanocco A, Cardemil E, Valenzuela MA (2000)

Fluorescence studies of ATP diphosphohydrolase from *Solanum tuberosum* var. Desirée. *Phytochemistry* **54**, 995-1001

- Etzler ME, Kalsi G, Ewing NN, Roberts NJ, Day RB, Murphy JB (1999) A nod factor binding lectin with apyrase activity from legume roots. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* **96**, 5856-5861
- Faria-Pinto P, Meirelles MN, Lenzi HL, Mota EM, Penido MLO, Coelho PMZ, Vasconcelos EG (2006) Cross-immunoreactivity between anti-potato apyrase antibodies and mammalian ATP diphosphohydrolases: potential use of the vegetal protein in experimental schistosomiasis. *Memórias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz* 101, 359-363
- Faria-Pinto P, Meirelles MN, Lenzi HL, Mota EM, Penido MLO, Coelho PMZ, Vasconcelos EG (2004) ATP diphosphohydrolase from *Schistosoma* mansoni egg: characterization of a new antigen. Parasitology 129, 51-57
- Faria-Pinto P, Rezende-Soares FA, Molica AM, Montesano MA, Marques MJ, Rocha MOC, Gomes JAS, Enk MJ, Correa-Oliveira R, Coelho PMZ, Neto SM, Franco OL, Vasconcelos EG (2008) Mapping of the conserved antigenic domains shared between potato apyrase and parasites ATP diphosphohydrolases: potential application in human parasitic diseases. *Parasitology* 135, 943-953
- Fietto JL, Demarco R, Nascimento IP, Castro IM, Carvalho TM, De Souza W, Bahia MT, Alves MJ, Verjovski-Almeida S (2004) Characterization and immunolocalization of an NTP diphosphohydrolase of *Trypanosoma cruzi*. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications **316**, 454-460
- Gendron FP, Benrezzak O, Krugh BW, Kong Q, Weisman GA, Beaudoin AR (2002) Purine signaling and potential new therapeutic approach: possible outcomes of NTPDase inhibition. *Current Drug Targets* **3**, 229-245
- Gomes JAS, Bahia-Oliveira LMG, Rocha MOC, Busek SCU, Teixeira MM, Silva JS, Correa-Oliveira R (2005) Type 1 chemokine receptor expression in Chaga's disease correlates with morbidity in cardiac patients. *Infection and Immunity* **73**, 7960-7966
- Gonçalves Da Costa SC (2005) A modulação da resistência do hospedeiro por microorganismos. In: Coura JR (Ed) *Dinâmica das doenças infecciosas e Parasitárias* (Vol I, 1st Edn, 2096 pp), Guanabara Koogan, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil, pp 165-177
- Handa M, Guidotti G (1996) Purification and cloning of soluble ATP diphosphohydrolase (apyrase) from potato tuber (*Solanum tuberosum*). Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications 218, 916-923.
- Hoffmann KF, James SL, Cheever AW, Wynn TA (1999) Studies with double cytokine-deficient mice reveal that highly polarized Th1- and Th2-type cytokine and antibody responses contribute equally to vaccine-induced immunity to *Schistosoma mansoni*. Journal of Immunology **163**, 927-938
- Karamohamed S, Guidotti G (2001) Bioluminometric method for real-time detection of ATPase activity. *Biotechniques* 31, 420-425
- Kedzierski L, Zhu Y, Handman E (2006) Leishmania vaccines: progress and problems. Parasitology 133, 87-112
- Kettlun AM, Espinosa V, Garcia L, Valenzuela MA (2005) Potato tuber isoapyrases: substrate specificity, affinity labeling, and proteolytic susceptibility. *Phytochemistry* **66**, 975-982
- Kettlun AM, Espinosa V, Zanocco A, Valenzuela MA (2000) Studies on ATP diphosphohydrolase-binding sites by intrinsic fluorescence. *Brazilian Journal* of Medical and Biological Research 33, 725-729
- Kettlun AM, Leyton M, Valenzuela MA, Mancilla M, Traverso-Cori A (1992a) Identification and subcellular localization of two isoenzymes of apyrase from *Solanum tuberosum*. *Phytochemistry* **31**, 1889-1894
- Kettlun AM, Uribe L, Calvo V, Silva S, Rivera J, Mancilla M, Valenzuela MA, Traverso-Cori A (1982) Properties of two apyrases from Solanum tuberosum. Phytochemistry 21, 551-558
- Kettlun AM, Uribe L, Silva S, Rivera J, Valenzuela MA, Traverso-Cori A (1981) Chemical modification of aromatic, acid and basic amino acids of two isoenzymes of apyrase from *Solanum tuberosum*. Archivos de Biologia y Medicina Experimentales 14, 171-175
- Kettlun AM, Urra R, Leyton M, Valenzuela MA, Mancilla M, Traverso-Cori A (1992b) Purification and characterization of two isoapyrases from *Solanum tuberosum* var. *Ultimus. Phytochemistry* **31**, 3691-3696
- Koyamada N, Miyatake T, Candinas D, Hechenleitner P, Siegel J, Hancock WW, Bach FH, Robson SC (1996) Apyrase administration prolongs discordant xenograft survival. *Transplantation* 62, 1739-1743
- Kozakiewicz A, Neumann P, Banach M, Komoszynski M, Wojtczak A (2008) Modeling studies of potato nucleoside triphosphate diphosphohydrolase NTPDase1: an insight into the catalytic mechanism. *Acta Biochimica Polonica* 55, 141-150
- Kusel JR, Al-Adham BH, Doenhoff MJ (2007) The schistosome in the mammalian host understanding the mechanisms of adaptation. *Parasitology* 134, 1477-1526
- Langston HP, Ke Y, Gewirtz AT, Dombrowski KE, Kapp JA (2003) Secretion of IL-2 and IFN-γ, but not IL-4, by antigen-specific T cells requires extracellular ATP. *Journal of Immunology* **170**, 2962-2970
- Lee JC, Lee KY, Son YO, Choi KC, Kim J, Kim SH, Chung GH, Jang YS (2007) Stimulating effects on mouse splenocytes of glycoproteins from the herbal medicine *Atractylodes macrocephala* Koidz. *Phytomedicine* **14**, 390-395
- Leenstra T, Acosta LP, Wu HW, Langdon GC, Solomon JS, Manalo DL, Su L, Jiz M, Jarilla B, Pablo AO, McGarvey ST, Olveda RM, Friedman JF,

Kurtis JD (2006) T-helper-2 cytokine responses to Sj97 predict resistance to reinfection with *Schistosoma japonicum*. *Infection and Immunity* **74**, 370-381

- Lenzi HL, Kimmel E, Schechtman H, Pelajo-Machado M, Romanha WS, Pacheco R, Mariano M, Lenzi JA (1998) Histoarchitecture of schistosomal granuloma development and involution: morphogenetic and biomechanical approaches. *Memórias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz* **93**, 141-151
- Levano-Garcia J, Mortara RA, Verjovski-Almeida S, DeMarco R (2007) Characterization of *Schistosoma mansoni* ATPDase2 gene, a novel apyrase family member. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* **352**, 384-389
- Mancilla M, Kettlun AM, Valenzuela MA, Traverso-Cori A (1984) Structural studies of two apyrases from Solanum tuberosum. Phytochemistry 23, 1397-1400
- Marcus AJ, Safier LB (1993) Thromboregulation: multicellular modulation of platelet reactivity in hemostasis and thrombosis. *The FASEB Journal* 7, 516-522
- Morrone FB, Oliveira DL, Gamermann P, Stella J, Wofchuk S, Wink MR, Meurer L, Edelweiss MIA, Lenz G, Battastini AMO (2006) *In vivo* glioblastoma growth is reduced by apyrase activity in a rat glioma model. *BMC Cancer* 6, 226
- Mrowiec ZR, Oleksowicz L, De Leon-Fernandez M, Lalezari P, Dutcher JP, Puszkin EG (1997) Apyrase, ascorbic acid and aprotinin ameliorate the storage lesion in pelleted platelet preparations. *Biotechnic and Histochemistry* 72, 259-267
- Mutapi F (2001) Heterogeneities in anti-schistosome humoral responses following chemotherapy. Trends in Parasitology 17, 518-524
- Nourizad N, Ehn M, Gharizadeh B, Hober S, Nyren P (2003) Methylotrophic yeast *Pichia pastoris* as a host for production of ATP diphosphohydrolase (apyrase) from potato tubers (*Solanum tuberosum*). *Protein Expression and Purification* 27, 229-237
- Nyrén P (1994) Apyrase immobilized on paramagnetic beads used to improve detection on limits in bioluminometric ATP monitoring. *Journal of Bioluminescence and Chemiluminescence* 9, 29-34
- Penido ML, Resende DM, Vianello MA, Bordin FHS, Jacinto AA, Dias WD, Montesano, MA, Nelson DL, Coelho PMZ, Vasconcelos EG (2007) A new series of schistosomicide drugs, the alkylaminoalkanethiosulfuric acids, partially inhibit the activity of *Schistosoma mansoni* ATP diphosphohydrolase. *European Journal of Pharmacology* 570, 10-17
- Requena JM, Alonso C, Soto M (2000) Evolutionarily conserved proteins as prominent immunogens during *Leishmania* infections. *Parasitology Today* 16, 246-250
- Riewe D, Grosman L, Fernie AR, Wucke C, Geigenberger P (2008) The potato-specific apyrase is apoplastically localized and has influence on gene

expression, growth and development. Plant Physiology 147, 1092-1109

- Robson SC, Sevigny J, Zimmermann H (2006) The E-NTPDase family of ectonucleotidases: structure function relationships and pathophysiological significance. *Purinergic Signalling* **2**, 409-430
- Spelman K, Burns JJ, Nichols D, Winters N, Ottersberg S, Tenborg M (2006) Modulation of cytokine expression by traditional medicines: a review of herbal immunomodulators. *Alternative Medicine Review* 11, 128-150
- Tasca T, Bonan CD, De Carli GA, Sarkis JJ (2004) Trichomonas vaginalis: cytochemical localization of a NTPDase1 and an ecto-5'-nucleotidase and effects of adenine nucleotides on cellular viability. Parasitology Research 93, 300-303
- Thomas C, Sun Y, Naus K, Lloyd A, Roux S (1999) Apyrase functions in plant phosphatase nutrition and mobilizes phosphate from extracellular ATP. *Plant Physiology* 119, 543-551
- Torres CR, Vasconcelos EG, Ferreira ST, Verjovski-Almeida S (1998) Divalent cation dependence and inhibition of *Schistosoma mansoni* ATP diphosphohydrolase by fluorosulfonylbenzoyl adenosine. *European Journal of Biochemistry* 251, 516-521
- Traverso-Cori A, Chaimovich H, Cori O (1965) Different molecular forms of potato apyrase. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics 137, 133-142
- Valenzuela MA, Del Campo G, Marin E, Traversa-Cori A (1973) Effects of protein-modifying reagents on an isoenzyme of potato apyrase. *The Biochemical Journal* 133, 755-763
- Vasconcelos EG, Ferreira ST, Carvalho TMU, Souza W, Kettlun AM, Mancilla M, Valenzuela MA, Verjovski-Almeida S (1996) Partial purification and immunohistochemical localization of ATP diphosphohydrolase from *Schistosoma mansoni*. Immunological cross-reactivities with potato apyrase and *Toxoplasma gondii* nucleoside triphosphate hydrolase. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 271, 22139-22145
- Vasconcelos EG, Nascimento PS, Meirelles MNL, Verjovski-Almeida S, Ferreira ST (1993) Characterization and localization of an ATP-diphosphohydrolase on the external surface of the tegument of *Schistosoma mansoni*. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* 58, 205-214
- Whigham KA, Drummond AH, Edgar W, Prentice CR (1976) A method for the removal of platelet aggregating activity of commercial apyrase. *Thrombosis and Haemostasis* 36, 652-653
- Yang J, Zhao J, Yang Y, Zhang L, Yang X, Zhu X, Ji M, Sun N, Su C (2007) Schistosoma japonicum egg antigens stimulate CD4⁺CD25⁺ T cells and modulate airway inflammation in a murine model of asthma. *Immunology* 120, 8-18
- Zouain CS, Gustavson S, Oliveira SC, Azevedo V, Alves JB, Goes AM (2001) The role of IL-10 and IgG1 in the protection and granulomatous response in *Schistosoma mansoni* P24-immunized mice. *Vaccine* 19, 1218-1224